MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change



Energy Scenarios for East Asia: 2005-2025

Sergey Paltsev and John Reilly

Report No. 152 July 2007 The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change is an organization for research, independent policy analysis, and public education in global environmental change. It seeks to provide leadership in understanding scientific, economic, and ecological aspects of this difficult issue, and combining them into policy assessments that serve the needs of ongoing national and international discussions. To this end, the Program brings together an interdisciplinary group from two established research centers at MIT: the Center for Global Change Science (CGCS) and the Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research (CEEPR). These two centers bridge many key areas of the needed intellectual work, and additional essential areas are covered by other MIT departments, by collaboration with the Ecosystems Center of the Marine Biology Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole, and by short- and long-term visitors to the Program. The Program involves sponsorship and active participation by industry, government, and non-profit organizations.

To inform processes of policy development and implementation, climate change research needs to focus on improving the prediction of those variables that are most relevant to economic, social, and environmental effects. In turn, the greenhouse gas and atmospheric aerosol assumptions underlying climate analysis need to be related to the economic, technological, and political forces that drive emissions, and to the results of international agreements and mitigation. Further, assessments of possible societal and ecosystem impacts, and analysis of mitigation strategies, need to be based on realistic evaluation of the uncertainties of climate science.

This report is one of a series intended to communicate research results and improve public understanding of climate issues, thereby contributing to informed debate about the climate issue, the uncertainties, and the economic and social implications of policy alternatives. Titles in the Report Series to date are listed on the inside back cover.

Henry D. Jacoby and Ronald G. Prinn, *Program Co-Directors*

For more information,	please contact the Joint Program Office
Postal Address:	Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change
	77 Massachusetts Avenue
	MIT E40-428
	Cambridge MA 02139-4307 (USA)
Location:	One Amherst Street, Cambridge
	Building E40, Room 428
	Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Access:	Phone: (617) 253-7492
	Fax: (617) 253-9845
	E-mail: globalchange@mit.edu
	Web site: http://mit.edu/globalchange/

🛞 Printed on recycled paper

Energy Scenarios for East Asia: 2005–2025^{*}

Sergey Paltsev and John Reilly

Abstract

We describe several scenarios for economic development and energy use in East Asia based on the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model, a computable general equilibrium model of the world economy. Historic indicators for Asian economic growth, energy use, and energy intensity are discussed. In the Baseline scenario, energy use in East Asia is projected to increase from around 120 EJ in 2005 to around 220 EJ in 2025. Alternative scenarios were developed to consider: (1) How fast might energy demand grow in East Asia and how does it depend on key uncertainties? (2) Do rising prices for energy affect growth in the region? (3) Would growth in East Asia have a substantial effect on world energy markets? (4) Would development of regional gas markets have substantial effects on energy use in the region and on gas markets in other regions? Briefly, we find that with more rapid economic growth, demand in East Asia could reach 430 EJ by 2025, almost twice the level in the Baseline; rising energy prices place a drag on growth of countries in the region of 0.2 to 0.6% per year; world crude oil markets could be substantially affected by demand growth in the region, with the price effect being as much as \$25 per barrel in 2025; and development of regional gas use in East Asia while leading to higher gas prices in Europe.

Contents

1. Introduction	
2. Economic and Energy Indicators, 1970–2000	
3. The EPPA Model	6
4. Baseline Scenario	7
5. Alternative Scenarios	
5.1 Effects of Economic Growth in East Asia and China, and China Energy	
Efficiency, on East Asian Energy Use	
5.2 Effects of Low Energy Prices and Gas Trade Markets on Energy Use in H	East Asia 15
5.3 Energy Prices in Alternative Scenarios	
6. Conclusions	
7. References	

1. INTRODUCTION

The East Asian region is among the fastest-growing regions of the world and its share of the global economy and of energy use has increased substantially over the past 30 years. Thus, continued economic growth in East Asia will strongly affect the world demand for energy. The goal of this paper is to provide several illustrative scenarios of economic development and energy use in the region. For this purpose the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005) is used. It is a computable general equilibrium (CGE) model of the global economy, and has been widely used to study climate change policy and its implications for energy system and technology development.

East Asia, based on the regional disaggregation in the EPPA model, is defined to comprise People's Republic of China; India; Indonesia; Japan; and the dynamic Asian economies of Republic of Korea; Malaysia; Philippines; Singapore; Taiwan Province of China; and Thailand. This definition excludes some countries that are obviously in East Asia, such as Cambodia and Viet Nam. India, which is generally considered as South Asia, is also included, since this

^{*} The scenarios discussed here are developed for the Asian Development Bank project "Shaping the Future: Prospects for Asia's Long-Term Development over the Next Two Decades."

regional grouping contains the countries in the region that dominate its energy use and account for most of the region's gross domestic product (GDP).

China's economy is the fastest-growing economy in the region. The phenomenon of fast growth in that country and its implications for energy demand have attracted considerable attention from researchers (see, for example, Adams & Shachmurove, 2007; Winters & Yusuf, 2007; Zhao & Wu, 2007). There is substantial disagreement on how fast China will grow in the next 10 to 30 years. As pointed out by Altman (2007), some experts predict sustained fast growth. Other experts appeal to an economic convergence theory, which would have growth slowing in developing economies as they catch up with industrial economies, and face diminishing returns as they adopt the most advanced technologies available. At that point, they would need to start to innovate themselves, move to advanced product markets, and compete with industrial countries in these markets. Still other observers wonder whether the political situation in China will remain stable and whether the stresses of rapid growth on the environment and on natural resources there might not undermine growth.

The paper is organized in the following way. In the next section recent trends in economic performance and energy use in the East Asian region are described. Section 3 presents the EPPA model, which is used for scenario development. In Section 4 the baseline scenario is considered. Section 5 then examines several alternative scenarios, where different assumptions about growth rates, energy efficiency, and energy prices are considered. Section 6 concludes.

2. ECONOMIC AND ENERGY INDICATORS, 1970–2000

Since 1970 the economies of the region have more than tripled in size and fossil energy use has increased some 3.5 times as shown in **Tables 1 and 2**. As a result, the region's share of global fossil energy use doubled from about 13% in 1970 to about 26% in 2005. The data in Table 1 are used in the regional disaggregation of the EPPA model. (The complete list of countries in other regions is provided in Paltsev *et al.*, 2005. The data are in 1990 international Geary-Khamis dollars, a conversion from market exchange rates to one corrected to reflect differences in international purchasing power.¹)

The share of East Asia in the world economy rose from 19% to about 32% between 1970 and 2000. While similar data are unavailable for more recent years, continued rapid growth, especially in China and India, means that the region's share of the world economy has likely continued to increase. Within East Asia, China accounted for 38% of GDP in 2000, Japan 23%, India 17%, Other Asia² 16%, and Indonesia 6% when GDP is corrected for international purchasing power (Table 1 and **Figure 1**a).

¹ Several methods can be used to generate economic accounts adjusted to measure "true" relative incomes and outputs of different countries. The well-known purchasing power parity indexes can be constructed in several ways and they produce somewhat different results. In this paper we follow the Maddison (2001) approach and his data when we report the numbers adjusted for international purchasing power.

² The "Other Asia" region consists of Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Republic of Korea, Taiwan Province of China, and Thailand. Regional aggregations are those used in the EPPA model. Detail on the regional composition is provided in Paltsev *et al.* (2005).

Location	1970	1980	1990	2000
China, People's Rep. of	663	1,100	2,209	4,483
India	470	637	1,098	1,924
Japan	1,014	1,568	2,321	2,669
Indonesia	139	276	451	676
Other Asia*	269	575	1,106	1,896
Total East Asia	2,555	4,156	7,185	11,648
World	13,583	19,767	27,058	36,406
East Asian Share (%)	19	21	27	32

Table 1. Gross Domestic Product Adjusted for International Purchasing Power.

Note: Data are in billion 1990 international Geary-Khamis dollars. Source: Maddison (2001).

*The "Other Asia" region consists of Malaysia; Philippines; Singapore; Korea; Taiwan Province of China; and Thailand.

	197	70	1980		1990		200	0
Location	Prod	Use	Prod	Use	Prod	Use	Prod	Use
China, People's Rep. of	9.9	9.4	18.0	16.5	28.9	26.5	36.4	34.9
India	1.9	2.5	2.9	3.4	6.3	7.1	9.0	12.6
Japan	1.3	9.9	0.6	12.4	0.3	13.1	0.2	15.9
Indonesia	1.9	0.4	4.0	0.9	5.0	2.0	7.5	3.4
Other Asia	0.3	1.9	1.2	5.0	2.8	8.1	4.3	17.7
Total East Asia	15.3	24.0	26.7	38.2	43.3	56.7	57.4	84.4
World	197.1	187.1	254.8	247.5	292.6	284.7	329.4	323.5
East Asian Share (%)	8	13	10	15	15	20	17	26

Table 2. Fossil Fuel Energy Production and Use (exajoules).

Source: Calculated from IEA (2005).



Source: Authors' calculations based on Maddison (2001).

Source: Authors' calculations based on Dimaranan (2006).

Figure 1. GDP Shares in East Asia. **(a)** GDP in 2000 adjusted for international purchasing power (in trillions of 1990 International Geary-Khamis dollars) and their shares in East Asia. **(b)** GDP in 2001 at market exchange rates (in trillions of 2001 U.S. dollars) and their shares in East Asia.

The economic shares of the four economies and one subregion ("five locations") within East Asia change when a different exchange rate convention is used, as illustrated in Figure 1, panel b, where GDPs for 2001 are reported at market exchange rates (MER) based on the data from the Global Trade Analysis Project (GTAP) dataset (Dimaranan, 2006). MER-based comparisons result in a different ranking with Japan dominating the region (58%); China and Other Asia are of a comparable economic size (18% and 15%); India's share (7%) is only half that of Other Asia (they are about the same size when adjusted for international purchasing power); and Indonesia's share is only 2%

Annual production and consumption numbers for fossil fuels for 1970–2000 are provided in Table 2. Fossil-fuel energy production in East Asia increased from 15 to 57 exajoules (EJ), with most of the additional production in China. At the same time fossil fuel use increased from 24 to 84 EJ. Only China and Indonesia produce more fossil fuels than they consume. China's production is dominated by coal, whereas Indonesia is a large oil and gas producer. Japan and Other Asia depend heavily on imports. The global share of fossil fuel use by East Asia also increased, from 13% in 1970 to 26% in 2000. These aggregate data for fossil fuels do not show the fact that most of the increase in production has been in coal, at a time when Asia imported more and more oil.

The change in fossil-fuel energy intensity shows very different patterns among the region's economies (**Table 3**). China's fossil energy intensity fell by about 45% in 1970–2000, and Japan's by 39%. However, in India, Indonesia, and Other Asia energy intensity rose. Many of the industrial regions of the world have shown a long-term decline in energy intensity, but that pattern is not as consistent in other countries. Various factors likely affect these trends. Through at least some period of development, growth is likely to become more energy intensive as it involves rapid growth of energy-intensive industry such as steel and cement. In addition, the shift from non-commercial fuels during the development process shows up as an increase in measures of commercial energy intensity, even though total energy use may not be rising as rapidly. Non-commercial fuels are often used very inefficiently. Also, their use is often underreported, and so if energy use were fully accounted, the shift to commercial fuels would likely result in falling energy intensity.

Another important factor in increasing energy use is that as income increases, household demand for energy for air conditioning, appliances, and transportation also likely contributes to increasing energy intensity. Energy pricing and industrial policy can also play an important role. Some of the most energy-intensive industries (iron ore, aluminum) have moved from industrial countries to developing countries, especially to those with lower energy prices.

In sum, though, the intensity of fossil fuel use is the relevant measure in terms of the region's impact on fossil-fuel markets.

	-		
Location	1980	1990	2000
China, People's Rep. of	1.06	0.85	0.55
India	1.03	1.23	1.25
Japan	0.81	0.58	0.61
Indonesia	1.12	1.59	1.78
Other Asia	1.24	1.04	1.33
World	0.91	0.76	0.64

Table 3. Fossil-Fuel Energy	Intensity Index $(1970 = 1)$.
-----------------------------	--------------------------------

Note: Fossil-fuel energy intensity is a ratio of fossil fuel use to GDP. For comparability, it is indexed to the 1970 level. Sources: GDP: Maddison (2001); fossil-fuel use: IEA (2005). In recent years, various observers have attempted to explain the underlying causes of energy efficiency changes, with a particular focus on China. Zhang (2003) concludes that China's decline in energy intensity between 1980 and 2000 is due to an increase in energy efficiency rather than a structural economic shift. Crompton and Wu (2005) identify technical and structural changes as the main cause for this decline in China. Fisher-Vanden *et al.* (2004, 2006) show a similar decline in energy intensity in China (considering data up to 2000). Hang and Tu (2007) provide data for China up to 2004 and show that aggregate energy intensity has reversed its trend and has been increasing since 2001. In their analysis, they consider coal, oil, and electricity intensities, in addition to aggregate energy intensity. Electricity intensity was relatively stable from 1985 to 2004 (with some reduction from 1990 to 1999 and a relatively small increase from 1999 to 2004). Oil intensity shows only a very slight decline, while aggregate energy intensity is mainly driven by the changes in coal intensity.

Figure 2 illustrates the data for China's energy intensity from different studies. The original units have been indexed relative to 1985. All studies agree on an impressive decline in China's energy intensity between 1995 and 2000, but between 2000 and 2004 the increase in energy consumption was faster than the increase in GDP. Underlying the structural and technological changes in China were large shifts in the organization of the economy as the country moved from a planned economy to one that was more driven by market forces, including adjustments to energy pricing. A significant problem in any analysis of China's energy situation is data quality. Large changes in reported energy use and production in some years may reflect changed reporting approaches rather than actual changes in use, and concerns about black markets in fuels that are not reported at all.

For other countries in the region, Crompton and Wu (2005) show that from 1980 to 1999 energy intensity in Indonesia, Japan, and Thailand was constant while the Republic of Korea's energy intensity increased slightly from the mid-1980s to the mid-1990s. Kasahara *et al.* (2007) provide historical data for energy intensity in Japan and discuss the potential future paths for energy and carbon intensities. They discuss three hypotheses: further increases in energy and carbon efficiency stemming from rising energy prices, efficiency improvements resulting from high economic growth and structural change in the economy, and exhaustion of the immediate sources of energy improvements.

As one looks forward, the outlook for energy-intensity change in the region is far from clear. The two countries that at one stage had contributed the most to improving regional energy intensity, China and Japan, appear to have reversed that trend, or at least stagnated. Technologically, Japan has been at the forefront of energy efficiency. The stagnation in overall intensity appears to stem from growing use of energy in households and for transportation, with slowing improvement in energy efficiency in basic industrial processes. The great improvement in energy intensity in China was likely related to economic reform, whose effect may have run its course or at least depends on how reforms will continue in the future. Energy intensity in other countries in East Asia continues to increase, although the intensity increase in India from 1990 to 2000 was very low, and so perhaps the structural transition from increasing to falling energy intensity (assuming such a pattern exists), is near. Similarly, the income level of Other Asia is fairly high, and its energy intensity increase may slow.

3. THE EPPA MODEL

To create illustrative scenarios of the future development of energy use in East Asia, the EPPA model is used. It is a recursive-dynamic multiregional CGE model of the world economy (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005). EPPA is built on the GTAP dataset, which accommodates a consistent representation of energy markets in physical units as well as detailed data on regional production and



(1985=1.00).

bilateral trade flows (Hertel, 1997; Dimaranan & McDougall, 2002). Besides the GTAP dataset, EPPA uses additional data for greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide, CO₂; methane, CH₄; nitrous oxide, N₂O; hydrofluorocarbons, HFCs; perfluorocarbons, PFCs; and sulphur hexafluoride, SF₆) and air pollutants (sulphur dioxide, SO₂; nitrogen oxides, NO_x; black carbon, BC; organic carbon, OC; ammonia, NH₃; carbon monoxide, CO; and non-methane volatile organic compounds, VOC) emissions based on United States Environmental Protection Agency inventory data and projects. For use in EPPA the GTAP dataset is aggregated into 16 regions and 21 sectors (the sectors are shown in **Table 4**).

Non-Energy	Note: Agriculture, services, energy-
Agriculture	intensive products, manufacturing,
Services	coal, crude oil, refined oil, and natural
Energy-Intensive Products	gas sectors are aggregated from GTAP
Manufacturing	data; industrial transportation and
Industrial Transportation	household transportation sectors are
Household Transportation	disaggregated as documented in
Energy	Paltsev <i>et al.</i> (2004); hydropower,
Coal	nuclear power and fossil-fuel electricity are disaggregated from the electricity
Crude Oil	sector (ELY) of the GTAP dataset; solar
Refined Oil	and wind power, biomass, natural gas
Natural Gas	combined cycle, natural gas combined
Electric: Fossil	cycle with CO_2 capture and storage,
Electric: Hydro	integrated coal gasification with CO2
Electric: Nuclear	capture and storage, synthetic gas
Electric: Solar and Wind	from coal, oil from shale, and liquid fuel
Electric: Biomass	from biomass sectors are advanced
Electric: Natural Gas Combined Cycle	technology sectors that do not exist
Electric: Natural Gas Combined Cycle with CO ₂ Capture and Storage	explicitly in the GTAP dataset;
Electric: Integrated Coal Gasification with CO ₂ Capture and Storage	advanced technology sectors are modeled as described in Paltsev <i>et al.</i>
Synthetic Gas from Coal	(2005).
Oil from Shale	(2003).
Liquid Fuel from Biomass	

Table 4. Sectors in the EPPA model.

Much of the sectoral detail is focused on energy production to better represent different technological alternatives in electric generation. The base year of the EPPA model is 1997. From 2000 it is solved recursively at 5-year intervals. The EPPA model production and consumption sectors are represented by nested Constant Elasticity of Substitution (CES) production functions (or the Cobb-Douglas and Leontief special cases of the CES). The model is written in the GAMS software system and solved using MPSGE modeling language (Rutherford, 1995). The EPPA has been used in a wide variety of policy applications (*e.g.*, Jacoby *et al.*, 1997; Reilly *et al.*, 1999; Babiker, Metcalf & Reilly, 2003; Reilly & Paltsev, 2006; CCSP, 2006; Paltsev *et al.*, 2007).

Because of the focus on climate and energy policy, the model further disaggregates the GTAP data for transportation and existing energy supply technologies and includes a number of alternative energy supply technologies that were not in widespread use in 1997 but could take market share in the future under changed energy price or climate policy conditions. Bottom-up engineering details are incorporated in EPPA in the representation of these alternative energy supply technologies. Advanced technologies endogenously enter only when they become economically competitive with existing technologies. Competitiveness of different technologies depends on the endogenously determined prices for all inputs, as those prices depend on depletion of resources, economic policy, and other forces driving economic growth such as savings, investment, energy-efficiency improvements, and productivity of labor. Additional information on the model's structure can be found in Paltsev *et al.* (2005).

4. BASELINE SCENARIO

A key input in the baseline scenario is population, and for this purpose population projections of the United Nations (UN, 2001) are used, as shown in **Table 5**. China and India are the two most populous countries in the world, and as a result near one half of the world population lives in East Asia (according to the above definition). The UN projects greater slowing of population growth in East Asia compared with other regions, resulting in a decrease in East Asia's share in the total world population by 2050. India is projected to surpass China as the country with the largest population by 2050.

Another key element in scenario projections is the development of nuclear power and hydropower. Because of the political nature of expansion of these energy sources, the growth path of capacity for them is specified exogenously in EPPA, but in the case of hydropower is

Location	2000	2025
China, People's Rep. of	1,282	1,479.5
India	1,008.9	1,351.8
Japan	127.1	123.8
Indonesia	212.8	274.1
Other Asia	211.4	272.9
Total East Asia	2,842.2	3,502.1
World	6,056.7	7,936.7
East Asian Share (%)	47	44

Table 5. East Asian and World Population through 2025 (millions).

Source: UN (2001).

based on an assessment of unexploited resources. As mentioned, the EPPA base year is 1997; to be consistent with recent expansion of nuclear power and hydropower, the growth of these sources through 2005 is benchmarked to IEA (2006) data. The levels of production of both types of power shown in **Table 6** are those projected by EPPA including this benchmarking.

Both types play a role in Asia (especially nuclear electricity in Japan and hydroelectricity in China) but they are still a small part of total energy use. Combined, these sources for the region amount to about 3 EJ compared with 84 EJ of fossil energy. To better compare electricity and fossil fuels, electricity sources such as nuclear and hydro are often reported in primary equivalent—the amount of fuel (coal, oil, gas) that would have been required to produce the same amount of electricity for a given conversion efficiency. Electricity conversion efficiencies are on average for most countries in the order of 30–35%. Thus, the primary equivalent of nonfossil sources is about three times that of electricity production. On this basis the region produced about 9 EJ of primary equivalent of nuclear power and hydropower, or still only about 10% of the fossil energy used.

The discussion of energy scenarios for East Asia begins with the baseline scenario. To perform a sensitivity analysis of the baseline results, several alternative scenarios are examined, where different assumptions about growth rates, energy efficiency, and energy prices are considered. As mentioned above, there is a substantial difference in opinion about future economic growth in Asia. In the EPPA model, GDP growth depends on population growth, labor productivity, capital accumulation, economic behavior of the agents, and other parameters of the model. Population growth and labor productivity are exogenous parameters, while decisions about production, consumption, and investment are based on economic optimization. Investments become capital in the next period.

Annual real GDP growth rates for the five locations, as well as aggregated growth rates in non-Asian regions, of the EPPA model and the total world growth rates for the baseline scenario are presented in **Table 7**. As with other components of EPPA, the period from 1997 to 2005 is benchmarked to historical data or to short-term projections where data are not yet available. The baseline has GDP growth slowing in China and India, while recovering from recent slow growth in Indonesia, Japan, and Other Asia. Annual performance of countries in the region for 1997 to 2000 has been quite varied (**Table 8**), and this is clearly a large uncertainty into the future.

Location	Nuclear Power	Hydropower
China, People's Rep. of	0.18	0.74
India	0.06	0.21
Japan	1.08	0.20
Indonesia	0.00	0.00
Other Asia	0.50	0.08
Total East Asia	1.83	1.23
World	9.39	7.18
East Asian Share (%)	19	17

Table 6. Nuclear Power and Hydropower Production in 2005 (exajoules).

Source: EPPA model's reference projections based on EIA (2006).

	China, People's Rep. of	India	Japan	Indonesia	Other Asia	Other Regions	World
1997–1999	6.4	6.1	0.9	1.7	2.4	3.5	3.2
2000-2004	9.6	5.0	1.1	2.4	3.3	2.3	2.5
2005-2009	5.4	4.1	3.2	3.4	3.3	3.4	3.5
2010-2014	5.0	3.8	3.3	3.7	3.4	3.4	3.5
2015-2019	4.6	3.3	3.2	3.6	3.2	3.2	3.3
2020-2024	4.3	2.8	3.2	3.7	3.0	2.9	3.1

Table 7. Annual Real GDP Growth Rates in the Baseline Scenario (%).

Table 8. Recent Annual Real GDP Growth Rate in China, India, Indonesia, and Japan (%).

Year	China, People's Rep. of	India	Indonesia	Japan
1997	6.9	7.8	4.7	0.6
1998	6.0	4.9	-13.1	-1.0
1999	6.2	6.6	0.8	0.9
2000	8.6	5.4	5.4	3.0
2001	8.1	4.4	3.8	-1.2
2002	8.9	5.8	4.5	0.1
2003	10.4	3.8	4.8	1.8
2004	12.7	8.5	5.1	2.3
2005	10.2	7.5	5.6	2.6

Source: Data for China for 1997–2004: NBSC (2005), for China for 2005: IMF (2006a); data for India: IMF (2007); data for Indonesia: IMF (2005, 2006b); data for Japan for 1997–2002: IEE (2004), for Japan for 2003–2005: IMF (2006c). Note: China's growth reported by NBSC (2005) is 10.4% in 2003 and 12.7% in 2004 compared to 10.0% in 2003, 10.1% in 2004 reported by IMF (2006a).

If economic performance of the 2000–2005 period were sustained over the longer term, then economic growth would be much more rapid than in the baseline case.

Figure 3 (panels a–f) shows the resulting energy consumption by fuel type for the East Asian region in total and for the five locations separately. Renewables include hydroelectricity, solar and wind, and electricity from biomass and biomass liquids. Much non-commercial biomass currently used in many of these countries for cooking and home heating is not reported. Additional biofuels that are simulated in EPPA are commercial biofuels, primarily ethanol-based fuels that compete with petroleum products. Through the time horizon of this analysis (*i.e.* 2025), hydropower is the most significant renewable energy form, accounting for all renewables in 2000–2005 and around three quarters in 2010–2020. Some advanced biofuels begin to appear toward 2025 as oil prices rise.³ Primary electricity (nuclear, hydro, and other renewable electricity) is reported in primary equivalent.

In the baseline, total energy use in the East Asian region is projected to increase from 124 to 219 EJ between 2005 and 2025, a 77% rise in 20 years. Of course, in the 20 years from 1980 to 2000, the region's energy use increased by 120% and so this is actually a slowing rate of growth. East Asian GDP is projected to grow by 105% in the baseline between 2005 and 2025. From these figures can be derived an implied aggregate energy-use elasticity for East Asia with respect to GDP, which is 0.74.

³ The EPPA model was designed to be simulated over 100 years and with a focus on greenhouse gas mitigation. In the longer term and under stringent climate policies, other renewables, especially biofuels, play a larger role.



Figure 3. Energy Use in Baseline Scenario in East Asia (exajoules). (a) East Asia total, (b) China, People's Republic of, (c) India, (d) Japan, (e) Indonesia, and (f) Other Asia.

In this projection, energy use grows most rapidly in China and India, where it triples (or nearly so). In Indonesia and Other Asia, energy use doubles over the period. In Japan it rises by only about 45%. Given this increase in energy use and GDP growth, the income elasticity of energy demand across the East Asian region varies from 0.47 in Japan, 0.55 in China and Indonesia, 0.64 in Other Asia, to 1.23 in India. Adams and Shachmurove (2007) point out that a typical expectation is that energy elasticity in developing countries exceeds unity, in other words, energy consumption rises proportionately more rapidly than GDP. Of course, the actual experience of developing countries has varied as reflected in the historical changes in energy intensity discussed previously. In particular, until 5 years ago, the income elasticity of energy was considerably less than 1.0 in China.

With regard to fuels, all fuel use grows rapidly in China and India, whereas in the other locations oil and gas use grow more rapidly, as shown in Figure 3 (panels b–f). For the region as a whole, coal use expands more quickly because China and India are large coal users, and rapid growth there drives the overall regional pattern. One result is that the region's share of world coal consumption rises from 48% to 53% between 2005 and 2025, and of total energy from 28% to 32%, even as its share of oil and gas changes little (**Table 9**).

Among the forces in EPPA that affect overall energy efficiency and fuel demand are the sectoral composition and non-price changes in fuel demand. A leading influence on sectoral composition is the change in patterns of consumer demand with economic development. These sectoral shares are determined by many factors, including changes in relative factor prices, intermediate demand, final demand, and international trade. A CGE model like EPPA, which is based on CES functions, tends to be share preserving. As noted in Paltsev *et al.* (2005), additional adjustments are made from period to period to reflect the way that consumption is expected to change as per capita income increases. In addition, fuel shares for China households, which now often use much coal, are adjusted over time to switch to other fuels as incomes rise. In terms of production sectors, a vintaging structure in EPPA keeps some portion of capital fixed in a particular technology.

Fossil-fuel price indexes for the baseline scenario are given in **Table 10**, where 2005 is equal to 1.00. These are producer prices absent any excise taxes or trade and transport margins. The EPPA model determines relative prices, and the price projection for any particular year is most appropriately viewed as a 5-year average because the model simulates the economy in 5-year time steps. The EPPA model includes a sub-model for depletion of natural gas, oil, and coal on

	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Coal	0.48	0.50	0.53	0.53	0.53
Oil	0.26	0.27	0.28	0.28	0.27
Gas	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.12
Total Energy	0.28	0.29	0.31	0.32	0.32

Table 9. Energy Use in East Asia as a Share of World Energy Use (%).

Note: Nuclear, hydro, biomass, solar and wind use are included in the total energy figures.

Region	Fuel	2010	2015	2020	2025
China Poonlo's Pon of	Coal	1.05	1.10	1.15	1.21
China, People's Rep. of	Gas	1.17	1.41	1.70	2.04
India	Coal	1.07	1.16	1.26	1.33
Inula	Gas	1.25	1.62	2.13	2.58
	Coal	1.05	1.09	1.14	1.18
Japan	Gas	1.14	1.30	1.49	1.78
	Coal	1.05	1.09	1.14	1.17
Indonesia	Gas	1.16	1.34	1.59	2.05
	Coal	1.04	1.08	1.12	1.16
Other Asia	Gas	1.19	1.39	1.67	2.18
World	Crude oil	1.21	1.45	1.74	2.00

Table 10. Fossil Fuel Price Indexes (2005 = 1).

Note: The prices of coal and gas differ by country. Crude oil is a homogeneous good and so has a single world price.

the basis of supply and demand conditions, and so prices are endogenously determined as an interaction of demand and supply in regional and world markets. Coal and gas, as is the case with most goods in EPPA, are modeled as "Armington" goods, where domestic and imported goods are not perfect substitutes (Armington, 1969), and thus prices differ by country. However, crude oil is modeled as a homogenous good, giving a single world price.

Coal prices are projected to rise by about 20% by 2025, with the exception of India where prices are set to rise by 33%. The natural gas price increase is also the biggest in India, where it is projected to rise by nearly 150% compared with about 100% in the other locations in East Asia. Crude oil prices are projected to double. For a sense of actual fuel prices, the index values can be multiplied by the average 2002–2006 base prices (\$40/barrel for oil, \$5.40/thousand cubic feet for natural gas, \$26.70/short ton for coal).⁴ In this regard, the crude oil price is already substantially higher than the recent 5-year average.

Net imports of fossil fuels (in US dollars) by the five East Asian locations increase substantially in the projections. Coal and oil imports double, while natural gas imports triple, from 2000 to 2025 in dollar terms. But if one looks at them as energy trade deficits as a share of GDP, the model does not predict big changes. They amount to less than 1% of GDP in 2005–2025, except for oil imports to India (around 1.5% of GDP) and oil imports to Other Asia (around 3–4% of GDP). At the same time in the baseline scenario, the EPPA model projects that the net export surplus in manufacturing and services, as a share of GDP, will increase in 2005–2025 from 6.5% to 7.4% in China, from 3.7% to 4.9% in India, and from 7.7% to 12.8% in Other Asia. The net export surplus in these sectors in Japan is falling, but still outweighs an energy trade deficit there, while Indonesia continues to be an energy exporter over the period.

5. ALTERNATIVE SCENARIOS

The baseline scenario is one possible realization of future East Asian economic growth and energy use, and clearly such projections hold uncertainties. Several alternative scenarios are therefore constructed to represent these uncertainties and to help understand better how energy markets might affect energy use and economic growth in the region. An outline of the alternative scenarios is provided in **Table 11** with shorthand scenario titles.

Name	Description			
Baseline	Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis model's reference			
High growth	High economic growth in all East Asia			
Low growth	Low economic growth in all East Asia			
High growth, China alone	High economic growth in China only			
Low growth, China alone	Low economic growth in China only			
No energy efficiency gain, China	No improvement in energy efficiency in China			
Low energy prices	Low energy (coal, oil and gas) prices			
Gas trade markets	Regional trade in gas in three markets: Asia (Asia, former Soviet Union, Middle East, Australia), Europe (Europe and Africa), Americas (North and South America)			

Table 11. Illustrative Scenarios.

⁴ These are US average prices for 2002–2006 computed from DOE Energy Information Administration price data.

Economic growth is clearly one of the major drivers of energy demand and is an important uncertainty. Therefore, high and low economic growth scenarios are considered. Also, since China is emerging as such a large force in the region and the world, it is interesting to ask how different prospects there could affect the region. Consequently, two scenarios are created with different economic growth assumptions in China. In addition, as already noted, the last 5 years of China's experience show a switch to an increase in energy intensity. To consider this effect, a scenario is built in which the non-price-induced energy efficiency improvement in EPPA (which in the baseline was improving at 1% a year) is eliminated.

A scenario is considered where energy prices return to their approximate 2000 levels and are held there. Perhaps such lower energy prices are possible, but a major purpose of this scenario is to understand whether projected rising energy prices slow economic growth in the region.

Finally, a gas market scenario (in which a fully integrated regional gas market emerges) is motivated by the fact that the region has substantial gas resources, but its lack of pipelines and liquefied natural gas (LNG) facilities currently limits use, especially in countries like China and India. In this scenario it is assumed that broader regional markets in natural gas develop, implying that infrastructure impediments are overcome, and the large resources of gas in the region and from surrounding areas are made available for use in China, India, and other importdependent countries in East Asia.

5.1 Effects of Economic Growth in East Asia and China, and China Energy Efficiency, on East Asian Energy Use

To construct different scenarios of GDP growth, ranges of historical growth are considered. With regard to China, the range of recent growth as shown in Table 8 has been wide, but for the last 5 years it has exceeded 10 % per year. Some researchers question China national statistics (see, for example, Zhang, 2003; Adams & Shachmurove, 2007) and note that China statistics might have underestimated GDP in the past, and that the reported economic growth (NBSC, 2005) in recent years might be higher than actual growth as the statistics catch up with the previous underreporting (Zhang, 2003). This claim is rejected by China authorities on the basis that high economic growth in China has been sustained for more than a decade. In recent years, India and Indonesia also show high economic growth rates. IMF (2006b, 2007) projects a sustained future economic growth in India and Indonesia at 6-7% per year. Japan has also shown an improved economic situation since 2003 and growth at more than 2%, which is slower than other dynamic Asian countries but a substantial improvement from its recent history.

The evidence would seem to suggest mostly higher economic growth than in the baseline; however, high- and low-growth cases are considered. In the high-growth case it is assumed that China grows at an annual average of 9.8% over 2005–2025, India at 8%, Indonesia and Other Asia grow at 6%, and Japan at 3.5%. In the low-growth case, China and India grow at an annual average of 3%, Indonesia and Other Asia at 2%, and Japan at 1%.

High growth in all East Asian locations lifts energy use to 430 EJ in 2025, while slow growth in East Asia leads to an increase to 170 EJ by 2025, compared with the baseline of about 220 EJ (**Figure 4**, panels a and b). The 430 EJ level is about 3.5 times as high as 2005 levels whereas



Figure 4. Energy use in East Asia under Scenarios of High And Low Growth, and No Energy Efficiency Gain in China (exajoules). High growth (**a**), Low growth (**b**), High growth, China alone (**c**), Low growth, China alone (**d**), No energy efficiency gain in China (**e**).

the 170 EJ is about a two-fifths increase. Coal and oil use both grow substantially. China alone is a major factor in these differences. When varying GDP growth in China alone is simulated, energy use in 2025 for the entire region ranges from 350 EJ (high growth, China alone) to about 180 EJ (low growth, China alone) as shown in Figure 4, panels c and d. High growth in China alone would increase energy use by 140 EJ in 2025, nearly two thirds of the increase seen if all countries grow at the more rapid pace of the high-growth scenario.

Section 2 described historic trends for energy intensity in China and Other Asia. There are two factors that primarily affect energy intensity in the EPPA model. The first is an exogenous factor conventionally referred to as Autonomous Energy Efficiency Improvement (AEEI). AEEI reduces the energy required in each sector to produce the same amount of output, assuming that other things (such as energy prices) are unchanged. In an actual forward simulation of the model, "other things" change endogenously, and these changes also affect energy efficiency. Actual energy efficiency of production of each sector in forward simulations is thus a combination of the exogenous AEEI factor, and endogenous effects through changes in fuel and other prices. AEEI can thus be seen as a reduced-form parameterization of the evolution of non-price-induced changes in energy demand. It is often assumed that AEEI represents technical change, but it should be seen as broadly representing other changes such as in the structure of production within the aggregate sectors. (For more discussion about AEEI in the EPPA model, see Paltsev *et al.*, 2005 and Kasahara *et al.*, 2007.)

As shown in Figure 4, panel e, with none of the energy efficiency gain in China, energy use in the region increases to 250 EJ, a 30 EJ increase from the baseline. While not as dramatic as the high-growth effect, this scenario may not provide a high bound on the energy-intensity effect. Even when the energy efficiency improvement is removed in China, energy intensity still falls by around 0.5% annually over the period because of price and structural changes (compared with an average reduction in energy intensity in 2005–2025 of around 1.5% in the baseline scenario). The effect on energy use is not as strong as if intensity actually rises, as has occurred over the past 5 years.

5.2 Effects of Low Energy Prices and Gas Trade Markets on Energy Use in East Asia

While EPPA simulates fuel prices as an interaction of supply and demand, it is structured such that one can set a price path and examine the implications for energy demand. To set the prices in this way, the model ignores resource constraints and assumes that all the fuel demanded at the given price is forthcoming. As a result, the regional energy supply projections and energy trade are not particularly meaningful because they may imply large fuel resources even though few resources are believed to exist. Thus this exercise is more useful for examining energy demand and the implications for economic growth of rising energy prices. If lower prices materialized, this would more likely result from some combination of reduced energy demand elsewhere in the world (perhaps in part because of stringent policies on greenhouse gas emissions reducing demand) or greater expansion of production in regions that are known to have large fuel resources (such as the Middle East, Russian Federation, or other countries of the Former Soviet Union).

In any case, as shown in **Figure 5**, panel a, if energy prices are stable rather than rising, total energy demand in East Asia is projected to increase to almost 250 EJ, whereas in the baseline, rising prices keep use to about 220 EJ. Since the baseline had oil and gas prices rising faster than coal, it is not surprising to see more of the increase in oil and gas use.

While the fact that economic growth leads to higher energy use is generally well recognized, the potential effect of energy prices on economic growth is not often modeled. The general



Figure 5. Energy use in East Asia in Scenarios of Low Energy Prices and Expanded Regional Gas Trade (exajoules). Low energy prices (a) and Regional gas trade (b).

	China, People's Rep. of	India	Japan	Indonesia	Other Asia	
Baselir	ne					
2010	5.4	4.1	3.2	3.4	3.3	
2015	5.0	3.8	3.3	3.7	3.4	
2020	4.6	3.3	3.2	3.6	3.2	
2025	4.3	2.8	3.2	3.7	3.0	
Low Energy Prices						
2010	5.7	4.7	3.4	3.5	3.8	
2015	5.2	4.3	3.4	3.8	3.8	
2020	4.8	3.8	3.3	3.7	3.6	
2025	4.5	3.4	3.4	3.9	3.4	

Table 12. Annual Real GDP Growth Rate in Baseline and Low-Energy Price Scenarios (%).

equilibrium structure of the EPPA model provides a consistent framework for assessing these effects. **Table 12** shows that the energy price increases projected in the baseline would substantially slow economic growth compared with a case where fuel prices did not rise. The growth penalty is as much as 0.6% per year in India, about 0.4% per year in Other Asia, and about 0.2% per year in China, Indonesia, and Japan.⁵

As discussed above, natural gas markets in the baseline scenario are modeled such that international prices do not fully equalize, and therefore changes in domestic demand can have a larger effect on domestic prices. In the gas trade markets scenario the Armington specifications for natural gas are relaxed. The trade in gas is modeled in a similar fashion to trade in crude oil (which is a homogenous product with perfect substitution for imports across different regions of the world). In this scenario three regional markets are in fact assumed for natural gas, in each of which gas is a homogenous product: Asia (Asia, Former Soviet Union, Middle East, Australia and New Zealand), Europe (Europe and Africa), and Americas (North and South America).

⁵ Some caution is warranted in these calculations because of possible terms-of-trade effects that might stem from the location of the energy source, which, as discussed in the text, is not well resolved given the nature of the fuel price override in EPPA.

"Armington-type" trade between the three regional gas markets remains. The motivation for the regional markets is that pipelines can serve to link markets that are geographically close. Whether this result accurately describes emerging global gas markets depends on how fast LNG infrastructure and pipelines can be developed (especially whether terminals and pipelines will be built to keep pace with demand), and LNG production facilities can expand.

The main implication of a developing regional gas trade is that East Asia's gas use in 2025 expands from about 16 EJ in the baseline to about 28 EJ in the gas trade markets scenario. Most of this expansion displaces coal use, which falls from about 110 EJ to 100 EJ in 2025. Thus, it appears that gas penetration is somewhat limited by the Armington assumption and, if this is realistic, by limits on transportation. A more fully integrated regional gas market would lead to much more gas use in the region. However, even with this significant expansion of gas use, coal retains the largest share (by energy content) of energy used in the region.

5.3 Energy Prices in Alternative Scenarios

At the outset it was argued that the East Asian region was large and rapidly growing and so prospects there could affect energy markets globally. One way to measure East Asia's impact on energy markets is to examine energy prices. As noted previously, EPPA models a single world market for oil but national/regional markets for other fuels. Therefore, the impact on the world oil price is one direct measure of the region's effects on global energy markets. For coal and gas a stronger effect is expected within the region, but a more limited transmission of the effect is likely to other regions. **Table 13** gives prices for coal and gas in China and the world oil price under the alternative scenarios outlined above.

Scenario			China Alone			East Asia			
	Baseline	High growth	Low growth	No Energy Efficiency	High growth	Low growth	Low energy prices	Gas trade	
Coal	Coal Price Index								
2005	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
2010	1.05	1.08	1.03	1.06	1.08	1.03	0.98	1.04	
2015	1.1	1.19	1.06	1.13	1.2	1.05	0.98	1.08	
2020	1.15	1.37	1.09	1.2	1.39	1.08	0.98	1.09	
2025	1.21	1.71	1.12	1.29	1.74	1.1	0.98	1.16	
Gas Price Index									
2005	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
2010	1.17	1.4	1.07	1.22	1.41	1.07	0.82	1.13	
2015	1.41	2.08	1.18	1.54	2.1	1.17	0.82	1.28	
2020	1.7	2.86	1.31	1.94	2.88	1.3	0.82	1.46	
2025	2.04	3.26	1.47	2.43	3.29	1.46	0.82	1.65	
Oil Pr	Oil Price Index								
2005	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
2010	1.21	1.24	1.2	1.22	1.26	1.18	0.82	1.21	
2015	1.45	1.53	1.43	1.46	1.6	1.39	0.82	1.45	
2020	1.74	1.9	1.69	1.76	2.04	1.62	0.82	1.73	
2025	2	2.23	1.96	2.02	2.4	1.89	0.82	2	

Table 13. Effects on Fossil Fuel Prices in China of Economic Growth, Energy Prices, Gas Markets, and Energy Efficiency (Index: 2005 = 1.00).

Taking first the world oil price in Table 13, the price index for crude oil reaches 2.4 in the high-growth scenario, compared with 1.89 in the low-growth scenario, and 2.00 in the baseline. Crude oil has been selling in the \$60–70 range in 2006 and 2007. The baseline has it falling back from that level in the near term but rising to \$80 by 2025, given a base year crude price of \$40 per barrel. With high growth in East Asia, the price in 2025 is projected to approach \$100 a barrel; with low growth in East Asia, the price might reach only \$75. Thus in these simulations, growth prospects in East Asia could lead to a near-\$25 swing in the world oil price. Growth prospects in China alone could lead to about a \$10 swing in the global oil price. With no energy efficiency gain in China, the effect on oil prices is smaller. The low-price scenario arbitrarily sets energy prices at a low level by assumption.

Turning to the effects of alternative scenarios on coal and gas prices in China, also shown in Table 13, in general the impacts are larger than on the world oil price. This is expected because the Armington trade assumption means that the ability to substitute imported fuels for domestic production is limited. Thus, much more of the increased demand pressure falls on domestic markets. There is some spillover on prices in China as a result of varying conditions elsewhere in East Asia. For example, with high growth in China alone, China coal price index is 1.71 in 2025, but with high growth throughout East Asia, the coal price index in China rises to 1.74. These spillovers can result directly from effects in the own-fuel market (the coal price is affected by increased demand for coal due to higher economic growth) and from interactions among markets (the higher price of imported gas or oil may lead to a shift to greater use of domestic coal and an increase in the domestic price).

The effects of varying scenarios of East Asia and China growth on coal and gas markets outside East Asia are much smaller. For example, for most of the scenarios, the EPPA model projects no substantial effects on the European or US coal price indexes. The greatest impact on energy demand is the high-growth scenario, which sees about a 1% increase in coal prices in Europe and the US, and an increase in gas prices of 6% in Europe and about 4% in the US, relative to the baseline in 2025. Effects are much smaller in other cases. Thus, if this Armington representation of the fuel markets is realistic, the transmission of changes in East Asia to other regional markets is limited, with the major effect occurring in the crude oil market.

Also shown in Table 13 is the effect on prices of the development of regional gas trade markets. As expected, this reduces the price of gas in China fairly substantially because it makes available to China less expensive resources in the Russian Federation, other countries of the Former Soviet Union, the Middle East, and Indonesia. The effect also spills over into the coal market, with the price index declining from 1.21 in the baseline to 1.16. Increased gas trade has almost no effect on the price of crude oil. The price effects are not surprising given that the main effect of regional gas trade markets was to increase gas use at the expense of coal—and less coal demand means a lower price.

Not shown in the table but of some interest is the fact that the development of regional gas trade markets results in an increased price of gas in Europe of about 7%. If gas in the Middle East, Russian Federation, and other countries of the Former Soviet Union is readily accessible to East Asia, this increases competition for the fuel and makes gas less available to Europe, which has developed an extensive gas transportation network.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The economies of East Asia are growing rapidly and energy use in the region is becoming a substantial share of world energy demand. In the baseline scenario, energy use increases in East Asia from around 120 EJ in 2005 to around 220 EJ in 2025. Coal continues to play a leading role as an energy source in the region, especially in China and India, while oil and gas use is accelerated under different scenarios. For the region as a whole, coal use grows as a share of fuel use, but this is because China and India are growing more rapidly, and so their fuel consumption patterns increasingly dominate the regional pattern.

This paper has focused on energy scenarios with no particular attention to an increase in emissions of greenhouse gases and other pollutants. The environmental consequences of rapid economic and energy demand growth, while an important topic, is beyond its scope.

Alternative scenarios were developed to consider several specific questions including: How fast might energy demand grow in the East Asian region and how does such growth depend on key uncertainties? Do rising prices for energy affect growth in the region? Would growth in East Asia have a substantial effect on world energy markets? And, would development of regional gas markets have large effects on energy use and gas markets in other regions?

With regard to future energy demand growth, the most important single factor is the rate of economic growth. In the baseline scenario, annual GDP growth rates from 2005 to 2025 were approximately as follows: China 5%, India 3.5%, Indonesia 3.6%, Japan 3.2%, and Other Asia 3.3%. In the high-growth scenario that extended rates seen in recent history, growth was substantially higher: China 9.8%, India 8%, Indonesia 6%, Japan 3.5%, and Other Asia 6%. In this scenario, energy demand rises to 430 EJ in 2025. In the low-growth scenario, it rose to only 170 EJ compared with 220 EJ in the baseline. High growth in China alone could account for about two thirds of the increase.

The effects of higher energy prices on growth in the region were found to be substantial. If, instead of rising at the rates projected in the baseline, prices were to fall back to year 2000 levels, annual average growth rates in the region would be 0.2–0.6% a year higher. The biggest growth impact is on India, and the smallest on China, Japan, and Indonesia.

A substantial impact of East Asia's energy demand growth on world oil markets was seen. Among scenarios of low and high demand growth in East Asia, the world oil price varied from about \$75 to nearly \$100 a barrel in 2025. Different growth prospects in China alone could cause a swing in the world oil price in 2025 of about \$10 a barrel. The effects on other fuel markets were considerably less, reflecting the lack of complete integration of these markets, at least as seen in the EPPA model.

Finally, it was found that if regional gas markets developed better links between East Asia on the one hand and the Russian Federation and the Middle East on the other, gas use in the region could grow substantially more than in the baseline, possibly increasing by about 75%. This would occur mainly through switching of gas for coal. An interesting side effect of the development of gas markets is that they could lead to higher gas prices in Europe. In the

simulation, European gas prices increased by about 7% with the development of regional trade because East Asian demand more effectively competed with that from Europe.

The above results depend on several aspects of the EPPA model structure and on particular input assumptions that greatly simplify the representation of economic structure and decision making. The EPPA model draws heavily on neoclassical economic theory. While this underpinning is a strength in some regards, the model fails to capture many economic rigidities that could lead to unemployment or misallocation of resources; nor does it capture regulatory and policy detail. Still, given the many assumptions that are necessary to model national and global economic systems, the precise numerical results are not as important as the insights into the general direction of changes in the economy, components of the energy system, and the approximate magnitude of the price effects seen under alternative assumptions.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful for helpful comments from Fan Zhai, Henry Jacoby, and Richard Eckaus.

7. REFERENCES

- Adams, F.G. & Y. Shachmurove, 2007. Modeling and forecasting energy consumption in China: Implications for Chinese energy demand and imports in 2020. *Energy Economics* (in press).
- Altman, D., 2007. China growth challenges the world's ability to adapt. *International Herald Tribune*, March 7, 2007.
- Armington, P.S., 1969. A theory of demand for products distinguished by place of production. *International Monetary Fund Staff Papers*, **16**, 159-176.
- Babiker, M.H., G.E. Metcalf and J. Reilly, 2003. Tax distortions and global climate policy. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, **46**, 269-287.
- Climate Change Science Program (CCSP), 2006. CCSP Synthesis and Assessment Product 2.1, Part A: Scenarios of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Atmospheric Concentrations, L. Clarke et al., U.S. Climate Change Science Program, Draft for CCSP Review, December 06, 2006.
- Crompton, P. & Y. Wu, 2005. Energy consumption in China: past trends and future directions. *Energy Economics*, **27**, 195-208.
- Dimaranan, B., and R. McDougall, 2002. *Global Trade, Assistance, and Production: The GTAP* 5 Data Base. Center for Global Trade Analysis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana.
- Dimaranan, B., 2006. *Global Trade, Assistance, and Production: The GTAP 6 Data Base*. Center for Global Trade Analysis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana.
- Energy Information Administration (EIA), 2006. *International Energy Outlook 2006*. Energy Information Administration, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC.
- Fisher-Vanden, K., G. Jefferson, H. Liu and Q. Tao, 2004. What is driving China's decline in energy Intensity? *Resource and Energy Economics*, **26**, 77-97.
- Fisher-Vanden, K., G. Jefferson, M. Jingkui and X. Jianyi, 2006. Technology development and energy productivity in China. *Energy Economics*, **28**, 690-705.
- Hang, L., and M. Tu, 2007. The impacts of energy prices on energy intensity: Evidence from China. *Energy Policy*, **35**, 2978-2988.

- Hertel, T. 1997, *Global Trade Analysis: Modeling and Applications*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Institute of Energy Economics (IEE), 2004. *Handbook of Energy and Economics in Japan*. Tokyo.
- International Energy Agency (IEA), 2005. *Energy Balances of Non-OECD Countries* (2005 edition). OECD/IEA, Paris.
- International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2005. *Indonesia: Selected Issues*. IMF Staff Country Report No. 05/327, Washington, DC (http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2005/cr05327.pdf).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2006a. *IMF Survey*, Vol. 35, No. 22. December 11, 2006, Washington, DC (http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/survey/2006/121106.pdf).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2006b. *Indonesia: 2006 Article IV Consultations*. IMF Country Report No. 06/319, Washington, DC (http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2006/cr06319.pdf).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2006c. *Japan: 2006 Article IV Consultations*. IMF Country Report No. 06/275, Washington, DC (http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2006/cr06275.pdf).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2007. *India: Staff report for the Article IV Consultations*. IMF Country Report No. 07/63, Washington, DC (http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2007/cr0763.pdf).
- Jacoby, H.D., R.S. Eckhaus, A.D. Ellerman, R.G. Prinn, D.M. Reiner and Z. Yang, 1997. CO₂ emissions limits: economic adjustments and the distribution of burdens. *The Energy Journal*, **18**(3), 31-58.
- Kasahara, S., S. Paltsev, J. Reilly, H. Jacoby and A.D. Ellerman, 2007. Climate Change Taxes and Energy Efficiency in Japan. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, **37**(2), 377-410.
- Maddison, A., 2001. The World Economy: A Millennial Perspective. OECD, Paris.
- National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBSC), 2005. *China Statistical Yearbook 2005*. China Statistics Press, Beijing.
- Paltsev, S., H. Jacoby, J. Reilly, L. Viguier and M. Babiker, 2004. *Modeling the Transport Sector: The Role of Existing Fuel Taxes in Climate Policy*. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Report 117, Cambridge, MA (http://mit.edu/globalchange/www/MITJPSPGC_Rpt117.pdf).
- Paltsev, S., J. Reilly, H. Jacoby, R. Eckaus, J. McFarland, M. Sarofim, M. Asadoorian, and M. Babiker, 2005. *The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Version 4*. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Report 125, Cambridge, MA. (http://web.mit.edu/globalchange/www/MITJPSPGC_Rpt125.pdf).
- Paltsev, S., J. Reilly, H. Jacoby, A. Gurgel, G. Metcalf, A. Sokolov, and J. Holak, 2007. Assessment of US Cap-and-Trade Proposals. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Report 146, Cambridge, MA (http://web.mit.edu/globalchange/www/MITJPSPGC Rpt146.pdf).
- Reilly, J., Prinn, R., J. Harnisch, J. Fitzmaurice, H. Jacoby, D. Kicklighter, J. Melillo, P. Stone, A. Sokolov and C. Wang. 1999. Multi-gas assessment of the Kyoto Protocol. *Nature*, 401, 549-555.

- Reilly, J. and S. Paltsev, 2006. European Greenhouse Gas Emissions Trading: A System in Transition. In: *Economic Modeling of Climate Change and Energy Policies*, M. De Miguel, X. Labandeira, B. Manzano (eds.), 2006, Edward Elgar Publishing, pp. 45-64.
- Rutherford, T., 1995. *Demand Theory and General Equilibrium: An Intermediate Level Introduction to MPSGE.* GAMS Development Corporation, Washington, DC. (http://www.gams.com/solvers/mpsge/gentle.htm).
- Sokolov, A.P., C.A. Schlosser, S. Dutkiewicz, S. Paltsev, D.W. Kicklighter, H.D. Jacoby, R.G. Prinn, C.E. Forest, J. Reilly, C. Wang, B. Felzer, M.C. Sarofim, J. Scott, P.H. Stone, J.M. Melillo, and J. Cohen, 2005. *The MIT Integrated Global System Model (IGSM) Version 2: Model Description and Baseline Evaluation*. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Report 124, Cambridge, MA (http://web.mit.edu/globalchange/www/MITJPSPGC Rpt124.pdf).
- United Nations (UN), 2001. World Population Prospects: The 2000 Revision, Data in digital form. Population Division, Department of Economic and Social Affairs.
- Winters, L.A., and S. Yusuf, 2007. *Dancing with Giants: China, India, and the Global Economy*. The World Bank: Washington, DC and The Institute of Policy Studies: Singapore.
- Zhang, Z., 2003. Why did the energy intensity fall in China's industrial sector in the 1990s? The relative importance of structural change and intensity change. *Energy Economics*, 25, 625-638.
- Zhao, X. and Y. Wu, 2007. Determinants of China's energy imports: An empirical analysis. *Energy Policy*, (in press).

- 1. Uncertainty in Climate Change Policy Analysis Jacoby & Prinn December 1994
- 2. Description and Validation of the MIT Version of the GISS 2D Model Sokolov & Stone June 1995
- 3. Responses of Primary Production and Carbon Storage to Changes in Climate and Atmospheric CO₂ Concentration Xiao et al. October 1995
- 4. Application of the Probabilistic Collocation Method for an Uncertainty Analysis Webster et al. January 1996
- 5. World Energy Consumption and CO₂ Emissions: 1950-2050 Schmalensee et al. April 1996
- 6. The MIT Emission Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model Yang et al. May 1996 (superseded by No. 125)
- 7. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Analysis Prinn et al. June 1996 (superseded by No. 124)
- 8. Relative Roles of Changes in CO₂ and Climate to Equilibrium Responses of Net Primary Production and Carbon Storage *Xiao et al.* June 1996
- 9. CO₂ Emissions Limits: Economic Adjustments and the Distribution of Burdens Jacoby et al. July 1997
- 10. Modeling the Emissions of N₂O and CH₄ from the Terrestrial Biosphere to the Atmosphere Liu Aug. 1996
- 11. Global Warming Projections: Sensitivity to Deep Ocean Mixing Sokolov & Stone September 1996
- 12. Net Primary Production of Ecosystems in China and its Equilibrium Responses to Climate Changes Xiao et al. November 1996
- 13. Greenhouse Policy Architectures and Institutions Schmalensee November 1996
- 14. What Does Stabilizing Greenhouse Gas Concentrations Mean? Jacoby et al. November 1996
- **15. Economic Assessment of CO₂ Capture and Disposal** *Eckaus et al.* December 1996
- **16. What Drives Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon?** *Pfaff* December 1996
- 17. A Flexible Climate Model For Use In Integrated Assessments Sokolov & Stone March 1997
- 18. Transient Climate Change and Potential Croplands of the World in the 21st Century *Xiao et al.* May 1997
- **19. Joint Implementation:** *Lessons from Title IV's Voluntary Compliance Programs Atkeson* June 1997
- 20. Parameterization of Urban Subgrid Scale Processes in Global Atm. Chemistry Models *Calbo* et al. July 1997
- 21. Needed: A Realistic Strategy for Global Warming Jacoby, Prinn & Schmalensee August 1997
- 22. Same Science, Differing Policies; The Saga of Global Climate Change Skolnikoff August 1997
- 23. Uncertainty in the Oceanic Heat and Carbon Uptake and their Impact on Climate Projections Sokolov et al. September 1997
- 24. A Global Interactive Chemistry and Climate Model Wang, Prinn & Sokolov September 1997
- 25. Interactions Among Emissions, Atmospheric Chemistry & Climate Change Wang & Prinn Sept. 1997
- 26. Necessary Conditions for Stabilization Agreements Yang & Jacoby October 1997
- 27. Annex I Differentiation Proposals: Implications for Welfare, Equity and Policy Reiner & Jacoby Oct. 1997

- 28. Transient Climate Change and Net Ecosystem Production of the Terrestrial Biosphere Xiao et al. November 1997
- 29. Analysis of CO₂ Emissions from Fossil Fuel in Korea: 1961–1994 Choi November 1997
- 30. Uncertainty in Future Carbon Emissions: A Preliminary Exploration Webster November 1997
- 31. Beyond Emissions Paths: Rethinking the Climate Impacts of Emissions Protocols Webster & Reiner November 1997
- 32. Kyoto's Unfinished Business Jacoby et al. June 1998
- 33. Economic Development and the Structure of the Demand for Commercial Energy Judson et al. April 1998
- 34. Combined Effects of Anthropogenic Emissions and Resultant Climatic Changes on Atmospheric OH Wang & Prinn April 1998
- 35. Impact of Emissions, Chemistry, and Climate on Atmospheric Carbon Monoxide Wang & Prinn April 1998
- **36. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Assessment:** *Feedbacks and Sensitivity Studies Prinn et al.* June 1998
- 37. Quantifying the Uncertainty in Climate Predictions Webster & Sokolov July 1998
- 38. Sequential Climate Decisions Under Uncertainty: An Integrated Framework Valverde et al. September 1998
- 39. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO₂ (Ocean Carbon Cycle Model Analysis) Holian Oct. 1998 (<u>superseded</u> by No. 80)
- 40. Analysis of Post-Kyoto CO₂ Emissions Trading Using Marginal Abatement Curves Ellerman & Decaux Oct. 1998
- 41. The Effects on Developing Countries of the Kyoto Protocol and CO₂ Emissions Trading Ellerman et al. November 1998
- **42**. **Obstacles to Global CO**₂ **Trading:** *A Familiar Problem Ellerman* November 1998
- 43. The Uses and Misuses of Technology Development as a Component of Climate Policy Jacoby November 1998
- 44. Primary Aluminum Production: Climate Policy, Emissions and Costs Harnisch et al. December 1998
- **45**. **Multi-Gas Assessment of the Kyoto Protocol** *Reilly et al.* January 1999
- 46. From Science to Policy: The Science-Related Politics of Climate Change Policy in the U.S. Skolnikoff January 1999
- 47. Constraining Uncertainties in Climate Models Using Climate Change Detection Techniques Forest et al. April 1999
- 48. Adjusting to Policy Expectations in Climate Change Modeling Shackley et al. May 1999
- 49. Toward a Useful Architecture for Climate Change Negotiations Jacoby et al. May 1999
- 50. A Study of the Effects of Natural Fertility, Weather and Productive Inputs in Chinese Agriculture Eckaus & Tso July 1999
- 51. Japanese Nuclear Power and the Kyoto Agreement Babiker, Reilly & Ellerman August 1999
- 52. Interactive Chemistry and Climate Models in Global Change Studies Wang & Prinn September 1999
- 53. Developing Country Effects of Kyoto-Type Emissions Restrictions Babiker & Jacoby October 1999

REPORT SERIES of the **MIT** Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

- 54. Model Estimates of the Mass Balance of the Greenland and Antarctic Ice Sheets *Bugnion* Oct 1999
- 55. Changes in Sea-Level Associated with Modifications of Ice Sheets over 21st Century Bugnion October 1999
- 56. The Kyoto Protocol and Developing Countries Babiker et al. October 1999
- 57. Can EPA Regulate Greenhouse Gases Before the Senate Ratifies the Kyoto Protocol? Bugnion & Reiner November 1999
- 58. Multiple Gas Control Under the Kyoto Agreement Reilly, Mayer & Harnisch March 2000
- **59. Supplementarity:** An Invitation for Monopsony? Ellerman & Sue Wing April 2000
- 60. A Coupled Atmosphere-Ocean Model of Intermediate Complexity Kamenkovich et al. May 2000
- 61. Effects of Differentiating Climate Policy by Sector: A U.S. Example Babiker et al. May 2000
- 62. Constraining Climate Model Properties Using Optimal Fingerprint Detection Methods Forest et al. May 2000
- 63. Linking Local Air Pollution to Global Chemistry and Climate Mayer et al. June 2000
- 64. The Effects of Changing Consumption Patterns on the Costs of Emission Restrictions Lahiri et al. Aug 2000
- 65. Rethinking the Kyoto Emissions Targets Babiker & Eckaus August 2000
- 66. Fair Trade and Harmonization of Climate Change Policies in Europe Viguier September 2000
- 67. The Curious Role of "Learning" in Climate Policy: Should We Wait for More Data? Webster October 2000
- 68. How to Think About Human Influence on Climate Forest, Stone & Jacoby October 2000
- 69. Tradable Permits for Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A primer with reference to Europe Ellerman Nov 2000
- 70. Carbon Emissions and The Kyoto Commitment in the European Union Viguier et al. February 2001
- 71. The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis Model: Revisions, Sensitivities and Results Babiker et al. February 2001 (<u>superseded</u> by No. 125)
- 72. Cap and Trade Policies in the Presence of Monopoly and Distortionary Taxation Fullerton & Metcalf March '01
- 73. Uncertainty Analysis of Global Climate Change Projections Webster et al. Mar. '01 (superseded by No. 95)
- 74. The Welfare Costs of Hybrid Carbon Policies in the European Union Babiker et al. June 2001
- **75. Feedbacks Affecting the Response of the Thermohaline Circulation to Increasing CO**₂ *Kamenkovich et al.* July 2001
- 76. CO₂ Abatement by Multi-fueled Electric Utilities: An Analysis Based on Japanese Data Ellerman & Tsukada July 2001
- 77. Comparing Greenhouse Gases Reilly et al. July 2001
- 78. Quantifying Uncertainties in Climate System Properties using Recent Climate Observations Forest et al. July 2001
- 79. Uncertainty in Emissions Projections for Climate Models Webster et al. August 2001

- 80. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO₂ Predictions from a Global Ocean Carbon Cycle Model Holian et al. September 2001
- 81. A Comparison of the Behavior of AO GCMs in Transient Climate Change Experiments Sokolov et al. December 2001
- 82. The Evolution of a Climate Regime: Kyoto to Marrakech Babiker, Jacoby & Reiner February 2002
- 83. The "Safety Valve" and Climate Policy Jacoby & Ellerman February 2002
- 84. A Modeling Study on the Climate Impacts of Black Carbon Aerosols *Wang* March 2002
- **85. Tax Distortions and Global Climate Policy** *Babiker et al.* May 2002
- 86. Incentive-based Approaches for Mitigating Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Issues and Prospects for India Gupta June 2002
- 87. Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in an Ocean GCM with Idealized Geometry Huang, Stone & Hill September 2002
- 88. The Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in Transient Climate Change Huang et al. September 2002
- 89. Representing Energy Technologies in Top-down Economic Models using Bottom-up Information McFarland et al. October 2002
- 90. Ozone Effects on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration in the U.S. Using a Biogeochemistry Model Felzer et al. November 2002
- 91. Exclusionary Manipulation of Carbon Permit Markets: A Laboratory Test Carlén November 2002
- 92. An Issue of Permanence: Assessing the Effectiveness of Temporary Carbon Storage Herzog et al. December 2002
- **93**. Is International Emissions Trading Always Beneficial? Babiker et al. December 2002
- 94. Modeling Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gas Abatement Hyman et al. December 2002
- 95. Uncertainty Analysis of Climate Change and Policy Response Webster et al. December 2002
- 96. Market Power in International Carbon Emissions Trading: A Laboratory Test Carlén January 2003
- 97. Emissions Trading to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the United States: The McCain-Lieberman Proposal Paltsev et al. June 2003
- **98**. **Russia's Role in the Kyoto Protocol** *Bernard et al.* Jun '03
- 99. Thermohaline Circulation Stability: A Box Model Study Lucarini & Stone June 2003
- **100. Absolute vs. Intensity-Based Emissions Caps** *Ellerman & Sue Wing* July 2003
- 101. Technology Detail in a Multi-Sector CGE Model: Transport Under Climate Policy Schafer & Jacoby July 2003
- 102. Induced Technical Change and the Cost of Climate Policy Sue Wing September 2003
- 103. Past and Future Effects of Ozone on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration Using a Global Biogeochemical Model *Felzer et al.* (revised) January 2004
- 104. A Modeling Analysis of Methane Exchanges Between Alaskan Ecosystems and the Atmosphere Zhuang et al. November 2003

- 105. Analysis of Strategies of Companies under Carbon Constraint Hashimoto January 2004
- **106. Climate Prediction:** *The Limits of Ocean Models Stone* February 2004
- **107. Informing Climate Policy Given Incommensurable Benefits Estimates** *Jacoby* February 2004
- 108. Methane Fluxes Between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere at High Latitudes During the Past Century Zhuang et al. March 2004
- **109. Sensitivity of Climate to Diapycnal Diffusivity in the Ocean** *Dalan et al.* May 2004
- **110. Stabilization and Global Climate Policy** Sarofim et al. July 2004
- 111. Technology and Technical Change in the MIT EPPA Model Jacoby et al. July 2004
- **112. The Cost of Kyoto Protocol Targets:** The Case of Japan Paltsev et al. July 2004
- 113. Economic Benefits of Air Pollution Regulation in the USA: An Integrated Approach Yang et al. (revised) Jan. 2005
- 114. The Role of Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gases in Climate Policy: Analysis Using the MIT IGSM Reilly et al. Aug. '04
- 115. Future U.S. Energy Security Concerns Deutch Sep. '04
- 116. Explaining Long-Run Changes in the Energy Intensity of the U.S. Economy Sue Wing Sept. 2004
- 117. Modeling the Transport Sector: The Role of Existing Fuel Taxes in Climate Policy Paltsev et al. November 2004
- **118. Effects of Air Pollution Control on Climate** *Prinn et al.* January 2005
- 119. Does Model Sensitivity to Changes in CO₂ Provide a Measure of Sensitivity to the Forcing of Different Nature? Sokolov March 2005
- 120. What Should the Government Do To Encourage Technical Change in the Energy Sector? Deutch May '05
- 121. Climate Change Taxes and Energy Efficiency in Japan Kasahara et al. May 2005
- 122. A 3D Ocean-Seaice-Carbon Cycle Model and its Coupling to a 2D Atmospheric Model: Uses in Climate Change Studies Dutkiewicz et al. (revised) November 2005
- 123. Simulating the Spatial Distribution of Population and Emissions to 2100 Asadoorian May 2005
- **124. MIT Integrated Global System Model (IGSM)** Version 2: Model Description and Baseline Evaluation Sokolov et al. July 2005
- 125. The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Version 4 Paltsev et al. August 2005
- 126. Estimated PDFs of Climate System Properties Including Natural and Anthropogenic Forcings Forest et al. September 2005
- 127. An Analysis of the European Emission Trading Scheme Reilly & Paltsev October 2005
- 128. Evaluating the Use of Ocean Models of Different Complexity in Climate Change Studies Sokolov et al. November 2005
- **129.** *Future* Carbon Regulations and *Current* Investments in Alternative Coal-Fired Power Plant Designs *Sekar et al.* December 2005

- **130.** Absolute vs. Intensity Limits for CO₂ Emission Control: Performance Under Uncertainty Sue Wing et al. January 2006
- 131. The Economic Impacts of Climate Change: Evidence from Agricultural Profits and Random Fluctuations in Weather Deschenes & Greenstone January 2006
- 132. The Value of Emissions Trading Webster et al. Feb. 2006
- 133. Estimating Probability Distributions from Complex Models with Bifurcations: The Case of Ocean Circulation Collapse Webster et al. March 2006
- **134**. Directed Technical Change and Climate Policy Otto et al. April 2006
- 135. Modeling Climate Feedbacks to Energy Demand: The Case of China Asadoorian et al. June 2006
- 136. Bringing Transportation into a Cap-and-Trade Regime Ellerman, Jacoby & Zimmerman June 2006
- **137. Unemployment Effects of Climate Policy** *Babiker & Eckaus* July 2006
- **138. Energy Conservation in the United States:** Understanding its Role in Climate Policy Metcalf Aug. '06
- 139. Directed Technical Change and the Adoption of CO₂ Abatement Technology: The Case of CO₂ Capture and Storage Otto & Reilly August 2006
- 140. The Allocation of European Union Allowances: Lessons, Unifying Themes and General Principles Buchner et al. October 2006
- 141. Over-Allocation or Abatement? A preliminary analysis of the EU ETS based on the 2006 emissions data Ellerman & Buchner December 2006
- 142. Federal Tax Policy Towards Energy Metcalf Jan. 2007
- 143. Technical Change, Investment and Energy Intensity Kratena March 2007
- 144. Heavier Crude, Changing Demand for Petroleum Fuels, Regional Climate Policy, and the Location of Upgrading Capacity *Reilly et al.* April 2007
- 145. Biomass Energy and Competition for Land Reilly & Paltsev April 2007
- **146. Assessment of U.S. Cap-and-Trade Proposals** *Paltsev et al.* April 2007
- 147. A Global Land System Framework for Integrated Climate-Change Assessments Schlosser et al. May 2007
- 148. Relative Roles of Climate Sensitivity and Forcing in Defining the Ocean Circulation Response to Climate Change Scott et al. May 2007
- 149. Global Economic Effects of Changes in Crops, Pasture, and Forests due to Changing Climate, CO₂ and Ozone *Reilly et al.* May 2007
- **150. U.S. GHG Cap-and-Trade Proposals:** Application of a Forward-Looking Computable General Equilibrium Model Gurgel et al. June 2007
- 151. Consequences of Considering Carbon/Nitrogen Interactions on the Feedbacks between Climate and the Terrestrial Carbon Cycle Sokolov et al. June 2007
- **152. Energy Scenarios for East Asia: 2005-2025** *Paltsev & Reilly* July 2007